Document Symbol:

Al2437

Best copy available



(2 |y Narions
s 74

REPORT
OF THY SECURITY COUNCIL
10 THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY

Covering the period from 16 July 1952 o 15 July 1953

GERERAL ASSEMBLY
OFFICIAL RECORDS: EIGHTH SESSION
SUPPLEMENT No. 2 {A/2437)

NEW YORK, 1953

93 p



UNITED NATIONS

REPORT

OF

THE SECURITY COUNCIL

TO

THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY

Covering the period from 16 July 1952 to 15 July 1953

GENERAL ASSEMBLY
OFFICIAL RECORDS: EIGHTH SESSION
SUPPLEMENT No. 2 (A/2437)

New York, 1953



NOTE

All United Nations documents are designated by symbols, i.e., capital letters
combined with figures. Mention of such a symbol indicates a reference to a United

Nations document.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION . ... e v

PART I

Questions considered by the Security Council under its responsibility for the
maintenance of international peace and security

Chapter

1. TaE INDIA-PAKISTAN QUESTION . ..ttt 1
PART II

Other matters considered by the Security Council

2. ADMISSION OF NEW MEMBERS .. ....oovnt e 12

3. APPOINTMENT OF THE SECRETARY-GENERAL .. ....... .. o', 24
PART 1III

The Military Staff Committee

4. WoRrK OF THE MILITARY STAFF COMMITTEE . ... .o vooee e 26

PART IV

Matters brought to the attention of the Security Council but not discussed
in the Couneil

5. COMMUNICATIONS RELATING TO THE PALESTINE QUESTION ................ 27
6. COMMUNICATIONS RELATING TO THE KOREAN QUESTION ............. .... 28

7. COMPLAINT OF FAILURE BY THE IRANIAN GOVERNMENT TO COMPLY WITH
PROVISIONAL MEASURES INDICATED BY THE INTERNATIONAL COURT OF JUSTICE

IN THE ANGLO-IRANIAN OIiL COMPANY CASE ... ooooi 28
8. REePorT oN THE TRUST TERRITORY OF THE PACIFIC ISLANDS ... ... ....... 28
9. A REPORT OF THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE BRITISH-UNITED STATES ZONE OF
THE FREE TERRITORY OF TRIESTE ... ..ottt 29
10. QUESTION OF AN APPEAL TO STATES TO ACCEDE TO AND RATIFY THE GENEVA
ProTocoL oF 1925 FOR THE PROHIBITION OF THE USE OF BACTERIAL WEAPONS 29
11. RePORT OF THE DISARMAMENT COMMISSION .. .. ovvren oo, 29
12. ReporT OF THE COLLECTIVE MEASURES COMMITTEE . ..........ooovno. ... 29
13. APPOINTMENT OF THE MEMBERS OF THE PEACE OBSERVATION COMMISSION . . 29
14, COMMUNICATION FROM THE PERMANENT REPRESENTATIVE OF GUATEMALA TO
THE UNITED NATIONS . ...t e 29
Appendices
I. Representatives and deputy, alternate and acting representatives accredited to
the Security Council ... ... ....... .. ... . . . 30
II. Presidents of the Security Council .......... ... ... ... ... .............. 30

ITI. Meetings of the Security Council during the period from 16 July 1952 to
15 July 1953 . 31

IV. Representatives, Chairmen and Principal Secretaries of the Military Staff
Committee .. ... ... 31



INTRODUCTION

The present! report is submitted to the General As-
sembly by the Security Council in accordance with Ar-
ticle 24, paragraph 3, and Article 15, paragraph 1, of
the Charter.

Essentially a summary and guide reflecting the broad
lines of the debates, the report is not intended as a
substitute for the records of the Security Council, which
constitute the only comprehensive and authoritative ac-
count of its deliberations,

‘With respect to the membership of the Security Coun-
cil during the period covered, it will be recalled that
the General Assembly, at its 389th plenary meeting on
25 October 1952, elected Colombia, Denmark and Leba-
non as non-permanent members of the Council for a
term of two years, beginning 1 January 1953, to re-
place Brazil, the Netherlands and Turkey, the retiring
members. The newly-elected members of the Security

1 This is the eighth annual report of the Security Council to
the General Assembly. The previous reports were submitted
under the symhols A/93, A/366, A/620, A/945, A/1361, A/1873
and A/2167,

Council also replaced the retiring members on the Dis-
armament Commission, which was established under the
Security Council by the General Assembly in accordance
with its resolution 502 (VI) of 11 January 1952, to
carry forward the tasks originally assigned to the
Atomic Energy Commission and the Commission for
Conventional Armaments,

The period covered in the present report is from
16 July 1952 to 15 July 1953. The Council held twenty-
six meetings during that period.

Part 1 of the report contains a summary account of
the proceedings of the Security Council in connexion
with its responsibility for the maintenance of interna-
tional peace and security.

Part II covers other matters considered by the Secu-
rity Council.

Part IIT deals with the work of the Military Staff
Committee.

Part IV provides an account of matters brought to the
attention of theé Security Council but not discussed in
the Council.



PART 1

. Questions considered by the Security Council under its responsibility for the maintenance
of international peace and security A

i

Chapter 1
THE INDIA-PAKISTAN QUESTION

InTRODUCTORY NOTE: On 30 April 1951 the Security
Council appointed Mr. Frank P. Graham as United
Nations Representative for India and Pakistan. After
consultation with the Governments of India and Paki-
stan, the United Nations Representative was to effect
the demilitarization of the State of Jammu and Kashmir
on the basis of the resolutions adopted on 13 August
1948 and 5 January 1949 by the United Nations Com-
mission for India and Pakistan.? Failing the achieve-
ment of that objective or agreement on demilitarization,
the United Nations Representative was to report to the
Security Council those points of difference between
the parties in regard to the Commission’s resolutions
which he considered must be resolved to enable de-
militarization to be carried out. A summary of his first
three reports and an account of their consideration by
the Security Council were given in the last annual report
(A/2167) of the Security Council®

A. Fourth report of the United Nations Repre-
sentative for India and Pakistan

1. Following the submission of his third report (S/
2611 and Corr.1)* on 22 April 1952, the United Nations
Representative for India and Pakistan informed the
Security Council on 29 May 1952 that negotiations with
the parties had been renewed. By a letter of 31 July
(S/2727) he further informed the Council that the Gov-
ernments of India and Pakistan had agreed to a meet-
ing of representatives of the two Governments at minis-
terial level under the auspices of the United Nations
Representative at the European office of the United Na-
tions in Geneva, beginning 25 August 1952.

2. On 16 September, the United Nations Representa-
tive submitted his fourth report to the Security Coun-
cl (S/2783 and Corr.1).® The report covered the ne-
gotiations carried out in agreement with the two Gov-
ernments from 29 May to 16 July 1952 in New York,
and the conference held at ministerial level from 26 Au-
gust to 10 September 1952 in Geneva. The United Na-
tions Representative stated that, as a result of meetings
and_conversations with the parties, he had submitted,
on 2 September 1952, a revision of the draft agreement
consisting of twelve proposals which he had submitted

2 See Official Records of the Security Council, Third Year,
Supplement for November 1948, document S/1100, para 75, and
ibid., Fourth Year, Supplement for Jamuary 1949, document
S/1196, para. 15.

.3 See Official Records of the General Assembly, Seventh Ses-
sion, Supplement No. 2.

* See Official Records of the Security Council, Seventh Year,
Special Supplement No. 2,

.5 See Official Records of the Security Council, Seventh
Year, Special Supplement No. 2,

on 7 September 1951 (A/2167, para. 75) suggesting in
paragraph 7 (a) (iii) and (&) (ii) a minimum force of
6,000 on the Pakistan side of the cease-fire line, and of
18,000 on the Indian side. He had made it clear that
those figures did not include the Gilgit and Northern
Scouts on the Pakistan side nor the State militia on the
Indian side. In addition to suggesting definite mini-
mum figures, the redraft of his proposals had attempted
to accomodate the concern expressed during the con-
versations by including a provisional clause to the ef-
fect that the agreement should not come into effect until
the programme (schedule) of the demilitarization had
been approved by the two Governments. The draft
of that programme was to be drawn up in meetings
between the representatives of India and Pakistan, as-
sisted by their military advisers, under the auspices of
the United Nations, the first meeting to be held two
weeks after signature of the agreement.

3. On 3 September it had appeared that no agree-
ment could be secured on the basis either of the figures
proposed or of those of 3,000 to 6,000 on the Pakistan
side and 12,000 to 18,000 on the Indian side which had
been proposed to the parties on 16 July 1952, As it had
not been possible under the circumstances to secure
agreement on the minimum forces to be left on each side
of the cease-fire line, the United Nations Representative
had thought that it might be possible for the two Gov-
ernments to agree on some principles based on the
reguirements of each side, which principles could then
serve as the criteria for fixing the quantum of forces.
He had accordingly submitted a further draft on 4 Sep-
tember 1952, according to which, at the eand of the de-
militarization period, there would be on each side of
the cease-fire line the minimum number of forces re-
quired for the maintenance of law and order and of
the cease-fire agreement, with due regard (in the case
of the Indian side) to the security of the State and (in
the case of both sides) to the freedom of the plebiscite.

4. Concerning that draft, he reported, the position
of the Government of India was that the principles
enumerated were conceived in the right spirit, having
regard to the two UNCIP resolutions. As a basis for
the evolution of a suitable definition of the functions of
forces on both sides of the cease-fire line, they con-
tained the germs of a settlement. The Government of
India could not, however, accept any equation of its
responsibilities with those of the local authorities on
the Pakistan side of the cease-fire line or agree that
the maintenance of public order in that area by those
atithorities should have anything more than a local
character. The defence of the entire State was the con-
cern of the Government of India, which alone was en-



titled to maintain a military armed force for that pur-
pose.

5. The Government of Pakistan had been prepared
to accept the draft proposals of 4 September, subject to
the observation that the references to “due regard to
the freedom of the plebiscite” and the “security of the
State” should be deleted to avoid recurrence in the
military sub-committee of the political controversies
that had held up progress in the main conference.

6. In conclusion, the United Nations Representative
stated that in order to reach an agreement on a plan
of demilitarization, it was in his view necessary either
(a) to establish the character and number of forces to
be left on each side of the cease-fire line at the end of
the period of demilitarization; or (b) to declare that the
forces to remain on each side of the cease-fire line at
the end of that period should be determined in accord-
ance with the requirements of each area, and accord-
ingly, principles or criteria should be established which
would serve as a guide for the civil and military rep-
resentatives of the Governments of India and Pakistan
in the meeting contemplated in the provisional clause
of the revised proposals.

B. Consideration of the third and fourth reports
by the Security Council

7. The Security Council considered the third and
fourth reports of the United Nations Representative

for India and Pakistan in the course of seven meetings
held between 10 October and 23 December 1952.

8. At the 605th meeting (10 October), the UNITED
NartioNs REPRESENTATIVE made a statement summariz-
ing the main points of his report, in which he dealt with
the obstacles that had been found in the way of de-
militarization and the twelve proposals which he had
made to overcome those obstacles. The narrowing of the
difference to the number and character of forces to
remain on each side of the cease-fire line emphasized
the depth of the difference on that point. Recalling
the alternative approaches which he had suggested with
a view to reaching an agreement on that remaining dif-
ference, he stressed the great importance of solving
the Kashmir problem peacefully, not only for the peoples
of the State and of the sub-continent, but for the whole
world.

9. On 5 November 1952, the representatives of the
Unrtep KincpoMm and the UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
submitted the following joint draft resolution (S/2839
and Corr.1) :

“The Security Council,

“Recalling its resolutions of 30 March 1951,
30 April 1951 and 10 November 1951;

“Further recalling the provisions of the United
Nations Commission for India and Pakistan resolu-
tions of 13 August 1948 and 5 January 1949 which
were accepted by the Governments of India and Paki-
stan and which provided that the question of the ac-
cession of the State of Jammu and Kashmir to India
or Pakistan would be decided through the democratic
method of a free and impartial plebiscite conducted
under the auspices of the United Nations;

“Having received the third report, dated 22 April
1952, and the fourth report, dated 16 September 1952,
of the United Nations Representative for India and
Pakistan ;

“Endorses the general principles on which the
United Nations Representative has sought to bring

about agreement between the Governments of India
and Pakistan ;

“Notes with gratification that thc United Nations
Representative has reported that the Governments of
India and Pakistan have accepted all but two of the
paragraphs of his twelve-point proposals;

“Notes that agreement on a plan of demilitarization
of the State of Jammu and Kashmir has not been
reached because the Governments of India and Paki-
stan have not agreed on the whole of paragraph 7
of the twelve-point proposals;

“Urges the Governments of India and Pakistan to
enter into immediate negotiations at the Headquarters
of the United Nations in order to reach agreement
on the specific number of forces to remain on each
side of the cease-fire line at the end of the period
of demilitarization, this number to be between 3,000
and 6,000 armed forces remaining on the Pakistan side
of the cease-fire line and between 12,000 and 18,000
armed forces remaining on the India side of the
cease-fire line, as suggested by the United Nations
Representative in his proposals of 16 July 1952 (S/
2783, annex 3), such specific numbers to be arrived
at bearing in mind the principles or criteria contained
in paragraph 7 of the United Nations Representa-
tive's proposal of 4 September 1852 (S/2783, an-
nex 8);

“Records its gratitude to the United Nations Rep-
resentative for India and Pakistan for the great ef-
forts which he has made to achieve a settlement and
Reguests him to continue to make his services avail-
able to the Governments of India and Pakistan to
this end;

“Requests the Governments of India and Pakistan
to report to the Security Council not later than thirty
days from the date of the adoption of this resolu-
tion; and further Requests the United Nations Rep-
resentative for India and Pakistan to keep the Security
Council informed of any progress.”

10. At the 606th meeting (6 November 1952), the
representative of the Un1Tep KiNGDOM, introducing the
joint proposal, said that his Government had always re-
cognized the great delicacy of the issues involved with
regard to the future accession of the State of Jammu
and Kashmir. Encouraged by the firm agreement of the
two Governments concerned on the principles to be fol-
lowed in order to achieve a settlement, it continued to
hope, however, that agreement could be reached on how
those principles could be put into effect. Paying a tri-
bute to Mr. Graham, he noted that the action which it
was proposed that the Council should take was based
on certain of the detailed suggestions made by the
United Nations Representative, In sponsoring the joint
draft resolution, his delegation had been guided by its
belief that the dispute could not bhe left simply to settle
itself, and that the efforts of the United Nations to
achieve a settlement could not in any way be relaxed.
His Government had in no sense closed its mind to the
possibility of a settlement on lines different from those
considered so far in the Council and had always in-
sisted that the solution could comie only as a result of
an agreement by the two Governments concerned. Since
the oniy agreement so far was that contained in the
two resolutions of the UNCIP, his delegation had al-
ways supported a settlement on that basis and would
continue to do so unless there was some indication from
hoth Governments that they preferred a settlement in
some other form.



11. The joint draft resolution therefore concentrated
attention on resolving the main difficulties standing in
the way of agreement on the demilitarization of the State
and the holding of a plebiscite. The United Kingdom
representative considered of great significance the ac-
ceptance by the parties of the United Nations Represen-
tative’s proposal that demilitarization should be
conducted in such a way as to involve no threat to the
cease-fire agreement either during or after the de-
militarization period. If taken as a criterion in decid-
ing the stages by which the military forces on each side
of the cease-fire line should be reduced, that principle
should provide a way of resolving at least the major
differences of view. He believed that Mr. Graham had
been guided by that principle in suggesting the limits
within which the final number of armed forces on each
side should be fixed. If the two Governments could
decide on final figures within those limits, a free and im-
partial plebiscite could be arranged and they could as-
sure themselves that the reduction in the strength of the
armed forces would involve no threat to the integrity
or to the security of the territory on either side. The
sponsors of the joint draft resolution, he explained, con-
sidered that the Kashmir Militia and the Gilgit Scouts,
which occupied a special position, need not be included
in the total of the forces to be determined.

12. Recalling the proposal, put forward by the United
Kingdom and the United States on 21 February 1951
(S/2017), that a neutral force might be used to facilitate
demilitarization of the State, he suggested that, should
the fear that demilitarization might lead to a renewal
of the conflict in Kashmir still exist, whichever of
the parties felt that fear might be urged to reconsider
the proposal that such a force be made available. That
device would of course not be necessary if demilitariza-
tion on the lines suggested by the United Nations Rep-
resentative and in the joint draft resolution could be
brought about.

13. As for the character of the forces to remain on
each side of the cease-fire line, the hope was that agree-
ment could quickly be reached on the basis of the prin-
ciple that at no stage should demilitarization involve a
threat to the cease-fire agreement. That would mean that
the forces on each side of the line should be, broadly
speaking, of the same kind.

14. At the 607th meeting (5 December), the rep-
resentative of the UNITED STATES oF AMERICA said that
the principles on which the Council was trying to pro-
ceed to assist the parties to carry out their Charter
obligations were the following: (1) a lasting political
settlement must be an agreed one; (2) the Council
would always welcome agreement of the parties on any
basis consistent with the Charter which would settle
the dispute; (3) the role of the Council was to assist
the parties to reach agreement; (4) agreement was
reached most frequently step by step through negotia-
tion, and negotiation involved an element of compro-
mise; and (5) the Council should consider with care
the views and the recommendations of its Representa-
tive and indicate to him and to the parties its views on
the position he had taken.

15. Reviewing the joint draft resolution in the light
of those principles, the United States representative
thought that the limits within which the number of
the forces to remain on each side of the cease-fire line
should be fixed had been suggested by Mr. Graham on
the basis of careful consideration, bearing in mind the
basic agreement of the parties in the form of the two

UNCIP resolutions. He pointed out that it had been
on the basis of those ranges of figures that Mr. Graham
had reported the willingness of the parties to negotiate
in Geneva. The representative of the United States cited
the principles or criteria suggested by Mr., Graham on
4 September 1952 and observed that they must be the
consideration which had led the Representative to arcive
at the concrete figures put before the parties. The joint
draft resolution accordingly urged the parties to nego-
tiate “bearing in mind” those principles or criteria. It
was clear, considering what the functions of the remain-
ing Aszad Kashmir forces would be at the close of the
demilitarization period, that those forces would be sepa-
rated from the administrative and operatioral control of
the Pakistan High Command, as envisaged in Mr. Gra-
ham’s proposals of 16 July 1952, The United Nations
Representative had also indicated that the role of the
forces on the Indian side of the cease-fire line, which
would consist of armed forces of the Indian Army and
of the State, would call for the minimum number re-
quired for the maintenance of law and order and of the
cease-fire agreement, with due regard for the security
of the State. Both those indications were entirely con-
sistent with the UNCIP resolutions of 13 August 1948
and 5 January 1949. Expressing the hope of the spon-
sors that there would be no tendency on the part of
either the Government of India or the Government
of Pakistan to reopen questions on which agreement
had already been reached under the two UNCIP res-
olutions, he stressed his Government’s interest in a solu-
tion of the matter by the parties, as well as the dangers
involved in allowing the case to drift.

16. At the 608th meeting (8 December), the rep-
resentative of INDIA pointed out that five years had
passed since the Government of India had requested
the Security Council to call upon the Government of
Pakistan to put an end immediately to its assistance to,
and participation in, the invasion of the State of Jammu
and Kashmir, which was an act of aggression against
India. Despite the Government of Pakistan’s denial of
the charges, the complaint had later been proved to be
true in an aggravated form. The Pakistan authorities
themselves admitted that the regular Pakistan Army
had invaded the State of Jammu and Kashmir on 8 May
1948. That invasion had taken place despite the fact that
the Council had already been seized of the question and
had been engaged in searching for a peaceful solution.
No solution had yet been found because the root cause
of the conflict continued, namely, the illegal occupation
by Pakistan of the territory of the State and the creation
of subversive forces and authorities therein. Until the
Council was prepared to face that central issue, no just
and lasting solution could be found.

17. The representative of India said that the validity
of the accession of the State of Jammu and Kashmir to
India had never been and cculd not be questioned by
the Council, by the UNCIP or by any other authority
set up or appointed by the Council. Pakistan’s status in
Kashmir, in contrast, was based on an act of aggres-
sion. That was why the two resolutions of the UNCIP
had drawn a distinction between the commitments of
the two sides in furtherance of an armistice agreement.
Under them the sovereignty of the Jammu and Kash-
mir Government over the entire State and the Govern-
ment of India’s constitutional responsibility for protect-
ing the State against external aggression had been ad-
mitted and duly recognized. Similar recognition had
been contained in Mr. Graham’s proposals of 16 July
1952, under which the forces to remain on the Pakistan



side of the cease-fire line would be separated from the
administrative and operational control of the Pakistan
High Command, and would be officered by neutral and
local officers under the surveillance of the United Na-
tions, whereas on the Indian side there would be an
Indian armed force. Mr. Graham’s seventh proposal of
4 September 1952, which laid down that, in considering
the final number of forces on the Indian side, due re-
gard would be paid to the security of the State, also
recognized India’s moral and constitutional responsibil-
ity for the protection and security of the State, which
had twice suffered invasion at the hands of Pakistan.
The Government of India was not prepared to abdicate
that responsibility, or to share it with others, least of all
with the aggressor.

18. Paying a tribute to the efforts made by Mr. Gra-
ham, the representative of India emphasized that the
UNCIP resolutions of 13 August 1948 and 5 January
1949 had made it clear that the requirements of main-
taining law and order as well as the over-all security of
the State, which included adequate defence, had to be
taken into account in assessing the requirements of the
forces to be maintained on the Irdian side of the cease-
fire line. It should be borne in mind that the Govern-
ment of Pakistan would be free to locate its forces as it
liked within its own borders, which for a considerable
length were within striking distance of the cease-fire
line and vital areas of the State. In the light of those
considerations, and after careful study, the Government
of India had come to the conclusion that a minimum
force of 28,000 was required to carry out its responsi-
bilities. However, on complete disbandment and dis-
armament of the A4sad Kashmir forces, and as a
further contribution towards a settlement, the Govern-
ment of India was prepared to effect a further reduction
of 7,000 to a figure of 21,000, which was the absolute
and irreducible minimum. That figure, which included
the former State armed forces, represented less than
one-sixth of the Indian forces at the time of the cease-
fire. The force would have no supporting armour or
artillery and, in addition to its other duties, it would
be responsible for policing the cease-fire line on the
other side of which was the aggressor.

19. The Government of India had agreed that United
Nations surveillance over the local authorities in the
area evacuated by the Pakistan army should continue
until the plebiscite had been carried out. Those author-
ities could not be entrusted with any responsibilities
under the cease-fire agreement, since that agreement
was between the Governments of India and Pakistan,
while the local authorities could have no international
status. They could at best be entrusted, therefore, only
with a civil armed force. Considering the pre-aggression
strength of similar forces policing the area, a civil
armed force of 4,000 would be on the liberal side, but
the Government of India would be prepared to make
some increase in those forces, which would be operat-
ing under the surveillance of the United Nations Rep-
resentative, provided the latter could make out a case
that the proposed strength was inadequate. The United
Kingdom representative’s argument that the presence
of troops on the Indian side with only a civil armed
force on the other side would be inconsistent with a
really free plebiscite ignored not only the provisions of
the UNCIP resolutions, but also the proximity of the
Pakistan frontier and of Pakistan forces. Any departure
from the position recognized by the two UNCIP res-
olutions aimed at establishing parity of any kind, either

of character or of quantum, between India on the one
hand and Pakistan or the local authorities on the other,
was unacceptable to the Government of India. The rep-
resentative of India found it significant, therefore, that
no mention was made in the joint draft resolution of the
character of the forces to remain. Indeed, the sponsors
had inadvertently or unjustifiably combined the essen-
tially independent and alternative approaches envisaged
by the United Nations Representative. Where Mr.
Graham envisaged two alternative and flexible proce-
dures, the draft resolution proposed one procedure,
restricted in advance, and leading to a predetermined
result. Moreover, Mr. Graham’s proposal of 16 July
had also stipulated a radically different character for
the forces on either side of the cease-fire line, a dif-
ference which, incidentally, Pakistan had rejected. The
Government of India had therefore been forced to refer
once again to the essential difference in the status of
the parties and to show that that was totally disregarded
in the draft resolution.

20. As for the reference to a so-called “neutral”
force, a proposal originally made by the representative
of Pakistan, the United Kingdom representative should
know that the Government of India had long since
rejected the idea of the imposition of a foreign force
on Indian territory as being derogatory to the dignity
and territorial integrity of an independent nation.

21. The United Kingdoni representative’s reference
to the principle that demilitarization should be carried
out in such a way as to involve no threat to the cease-
fire agreement was misleading, since the relevant para-
graph of Mr. Graham’s proposals, paragraph 8, had no
bearing at all on the principles for determining the
character and the quantum of the forces.

22. The figures suggested in the proposals of 16 July,
namely 12,000 to 18,000 troops for the Indian side, were
entirely arbitrary, and the United Nations Representa-
tive had never explained satisfactorily how they had
been arrived at. They were unrelated to the mnormal
considerations determining the minimum need for secu-
rity. In that connexion, the representative of India
pointed out that no outside advice could supersede that
of those who were themselves responsible for the secu-
rity and protection of the State. Any alternative figures
for the figure considered by India to be the absolute
minimum must be justified on realistic considerations
of security and not be put forward merely as a matter
of political bargaining or appeasement.

23. The view that the limits suggested by Mr. Gra-
ham represented the United Nations Representative’s
considered judgment was also incorrect in view of
Mr. Graham’s definition of his functions—which had
been accepted by both parties—that his position was
that of a mediator whose duty was to find an approach
acceptable to both Governments.

24. The United Kingdom representative’s conclusion
that the forces on each side of the cease-fire line should
be of the same kind went beyond the terms of the two
UNCIP resolutions and could rest only on the totally
inadmissible basis of equating the aggressor with the
victim. That representative’s reference to the require-
ments of security on each side of the cease-fire line had
no basis in the UNCIP resolutions or in any of Mr. Gra-
ham’s proposals, which recognized that the security
of the State was the sole responsibility of the Govern-
ment of India. The Government of India could not ac-
cept any decisions which violated the two UNCIP res-



olutions to which the parties had agreed. But it was al-
ways willing to explore every avenue which might
lead to a peaceful solution of the problem and which
did not ignore or vioiate the basic principles vital to a
correct appreciation, principles which had been accepted
by the UNCIP and the parties themselves.

25. Stressing India’s attempts to secure a peaceful
settlement, the representative of India pointed out that
her Government had repeatedly declared that on no
account would it Initiate military operations. The Gov-
ernment of Pakistun, on the oher hand, had refused to
make that declaration. Despite its undertaking to dis-
courage warlike propaganda, constant threats of holy
war were being hurled at India from across the border.

26. The Security Council had failed to address it-
self to the central and basic issue cf aggression against
India. The Government of India had to reject the
proposals in the joint draft resolution, which appeared
to go beyond the UNCIP resolutions or to ignore the
vital elements of principle contained in them.

27. At the 609th meeting of the Security Council
(16 December), the representative of PAKISTAN de-
clared that the charge that Pakistan had twice been guilty
of aggression against India was a very grave and seri-
ous cne. The allegation was .obviously based on the
assumption, altogether inconsistent with the facts, that
Kashmir was part of the territory of India.

28. Recalling the background of the question, he
emphasized that the people of the State had revolted
against the authority of the Maharajah long before both
the accession and the invasion of tribesmen, the root of
the trouble being their suspicion or their fear that the
Maharajah was inclined to accede to India. The current
Prime Minister of Kashmir had admitted on 21 Oc-
tober 1947, before a single tribesman had entered the
territory of Kashmir, that the Kashmir State forces
had been forced to withdraw in certain areas as the
result of popular resistance. Forced to flee from his
capital, the Maharajah had asked for military aid from
India. India had made it clear that it could not give
him military aid unless he offered to accede, so he had
written a letter of accession on 26 October 1947. The
Governor-General of India had signified acceptance of
the accession on 27 October, on the morning of which
day Indian troops had already occupied Kashmir. The
Pakistan representative asked whether that had been
aggression on the part of Pakistan or whether it had
not rather been aggression on the part of India against
the people of Kashmir in support of the tyranny of
the Maharajah.

29. The Government of Pakistan could not be ex-
pected to acquiesce in such an arrangement. The ac-
ceptance of the so-called accession by India could not
but be regarded by the Government of Pakistan as an
encroachment on Pakistan’s sovereignty and territo
inconsistent with the friendly relations that should have
existed between the two Dominions. The action of the
Government of India had been considered by the
Government of Pakistan to be a clear attempt to cause
disruption in the integrity of Pakistan by extending
the influence and the boundaries of the Dominion of
India in utter violation of the principles on which parti-
tion had been agreed rpon and effected. The representa-
tive of Pakistan noted that the words he had used
were precisely the same as those used by the Prime
Minister of India on 22 September 1947, in a tele-
gram to the Prime Minister of Pakistan regarding the
accession to Pakistan of Junagadh, a State in a position

parallel to that of Kashmir. The Indian case on the
accession of the States to either Dominion had heen
tnat sovereignty vested in the people and that, although
the instrument for intimating the decision was to be
the ruler, where there was a difference between the
ruler and his people, the wishes of the latter had to
be ascertained and the verdict of the people had to be
communicated by the ruler for the purposes of acces-
sion. When those tests were applied to Kashmir, it was
clear that the aggression, in the words of the Prime
Minister of India himself, had been committed by India
and not by Pakistan.

30. As for the second instance of alleged aggression,
the representative of Pakistan pointed out that, from
the time of submission of the matter to the Council,
the effort of the Government of India had been to se-
cure the withdrawal of the tribesmen so that Indian
armed forces could then crush the freedom movement
by military action. Sheikh Abdulla had said as much to
the then President of the Security Council who was
trying to arrange a settlement by conversations be-
tween the parties. The Security Council, however, had
persistently refused to endorse that position. In the
meantime, despite the Security Council’s resolutions,
on-the-spot preparations had been made to launch
an offensive so as to bring about a military decision.

31. It had been in the face of a general offensive
by the Indian Army in Kashmir, launched with the
declared intention of occupying the whole State, that
the Commander-in-Chief of the Pakistan Army had rec-
ommended to the Government of Pakistan, in April
1948, that the Indian army should not be allowed to
advance beyond a certain line for various reasons vital
to Pakistan, including the disruption that would have
been caused by = further great influx of refugees, Among
the objectives of the offensive had been the capture
of the headworks located in Kashmir, of the irrigation
system supplying -the Pakistan part of the Punjab. In
that connexion, the Pakistan representative emphasized
his country’s dependence upon its water supplies and
the fact that India had on 1 April 1948 already taken
advantage of its position to cut off for a period the
flow of the waters of rivers rising in India and flowing
through Pakistan. In the situation, the Pakistan Gov-
ernment had decided to send its own troops to stop the
further advance of the Indian Army. Pakistan had had
no international obligation of any kind towards India
in respect of that territory. His Government would
have been a traitor to its trust had it not taken that
action. All that Pakistan had done had been to attempt
to ward off the dangers which its Commander-in-Chief
had pointed out. That was not aggression. It could
not possibly have been aggression because the territory
involved had at no time been under the control or
military occupation of India, even as the result of the
supposed accession.

32. Reiterating that the assumption that there had
been a valid accession of Kashmir to India was en-
tirely erroneous and unfounded and has never been ac-
cepted by Pakistan or the Security Council, the rep-
resentative of Pakistan recalled that, in his reply to the
Maharajah on 27 October 1947, Lord Mountbatten
had stated that the question of the State’s accession
should be settled by a reference to the people. That was
indeed the question to be decided. The telegram of the
Prime Minister of India of 8 November 1947 had also
made that clear by calling for a joint request of the



two Governments to the United Nations to undertake
2 plebiscite in Kashmir at the earliest possible date. The
Security Council had consistently taken the position that
the parties had agreed that the question of the acces-
sion of the State to India or Pakistan should be decided
through the democratic method of a free and impartial
plebiscite. However, it had gradually been insinuated
that the question to be decided was whether the people
of the State desired to continue the accession or not.
The representative of Pakistan considered that to be
on a par with other efforts made on behalf of the Gov-
ernment of India to evade its obligations undertaken
by way of acceptance of resolutions or agreements, or
expressed through official documents. He emphasized
that paragraph 1 of the UNCIP’s resolution of 5 Jan-
uary 1949 stated that “The question of the accession
of the State . . . to India or Pakistan will be decided
through the democratic method of a free and impartial
plebiscite™.

33. In any case, the representative of Pakistan con-
tinued, the question was academic in view of the ac-
ceptance by the two Governments of the two resolu-
tions of the UNCIP. The crux of the matter, as the rep-
resentative of india had said, was the implementation
of that agreement. He endorsed the position that no
decision violating the two UNCIP resolutions could
be accepted, but the difference was that while Pakistan
had a record of being willing to translate its agreements
into actual fact, there was a sad record of evasion
on the other side. The Pakistan Government had fully
accepted the obligations laid upon it and had through-
out been willing to carry them into effect. The United
Nations Commission, however, had reported (S/1430)
on 9 December 1949, that “. . . India is not prepared
to withdraw such part of her forces in Kashmir as
might be characterized as the ‘bulk’, whether measured
quantitatively or qualitatively, unless agreement with
Pakistan on the large-scale disbanding and disarming
of the Azad forces is reached”. But the language of the
resolution of 13 August 1948 made it perfectly clear
that there was no such requirement. Yet it was argued
that India would not accept any violation of the UNCIP
resolutions. There was nothing in those resolutions,
moreover, which might cause misunderstanding on the
part of the Government of India regarding that ques-
tion. The UNCIP had consistently taken the line that
the resolution of 13 August 1948 did =0t contemplate the
disarming or disbanding of 4sad Kashmir forces. The
Government of India had known that fact and it was
quite clear that they had understood the two resolutions
correctly. The Commission had informed the Govern-
ment of India on 14 March 1949 that it had explained
to the Government of Pakistan in August 1948 that
the resolution of 13 August provided for a military
balance during the truce period in that it did not call
for the disarming or disbanding of the Azad Kashmir
forces, which the Commission had understood to num-
ber approximately thirty-five battalions.

34. The two sides had agreed, under paragraph 8
of Mr. Graham’s proposals, that the demilitarization
would be carried out in such a way as to involve no
threat to the cease-fire agreement. Yet, according to
India, there should be substantial military forces on
its side of the ceasc-fire line and none at all on the
other side. The representative of Pakistan asked whether
there would not be a serious threat to the cease-fire line
in that event. It was clear that a certain number of
forces had to remain on the Azad Kashmir side to main-
tain law and order and to maintain the cease-fire line.

35. Pakistan had repeatedly accepted proposed solu-
tions which had been rejected by India. Daspite its pub-
lic support for submission of disputes to international
arbitration and despite the obligation in this respect
which was laid upon the Government of India by its
own Constitution, India had refused several proposals
for such arbitration on the meaning of the obligations
undertaken under the two UNCIP resolutions. It had
rejected the Commonwealth Prime Ministers’ proposal
to make available Commonwealth troops to facilitate a
plebiscite. India had rejected in all fourteen different
proposals for solution of the question which had been
accepted by Pakistan.

36. If the course of the dispute proved anything, it
was that Pakistan was anxious to proceed to the hold-
ing of a plebiscite and that India was not. It was an
academic question, therefore, to suggest that upon with-
drawal of the bulk of India’s forces from Kashmir,
Pakistan would march in, discarding any possibility of a
plebiscite’s being held and inviting India to attack it
from the rear and occupy it. Though Pakistan’s forces
had long been established in cantonments on the Kash-
mir border, which were the result of a pre-partition
geographical distribution, India’s troops were massed
on the Pakistan borders in West Punjab and India was
establishing permanent stations in that area.

37. Another question to which the representative
of India had referred was that of the declaration by the
two Prime Ministers that all outstanding issues should
be settled peacefully. The representative of Pakistan
cited the exchange of correspondence between the Prime
Ministers of the two countries in 1950, when the Prime
Minister of Pakistan had stated his Government’s readi-
ness to reaffirm with the Government of India the
solemn engagements undertaken under the Charter of
the United Nations. The Prime Minister had at that
time declared that the solution would come when each
side accepted adjudication of all issues that were justi-
ciable and arbitration of ali other issues and had stated
his Government’s readiness to do so on every issue. The
trouble had been that India had been in possession of
the greater part of Kashmir and refused to move to-
wards a plebiscite. India had the power—which it had
exercised once—to cut off Pakistan’s water and to con-
vert the whole of Pakistan into a desert. It was to
preserve that power that India had suggested that the
two countries should never fight with each other over
anything. Pakistan’s reply had been to propose that the
two Governments should settle the procedure through
which their disputes could be settled and then proclaim
to the people that that was how they were going to
reach peaceful solutions.

38. Dealing with the joint draft resolution, he sub-
mitted that, having regard to the agreements that existed
and the needs on both sides, the numbers suggested
were not fair to the Pakistan side of the cease-fire
line. He suggested that the proposal would set up an
imbalance that would cause apprehension on one side
that the cease-fire line might not be adhered to. Despite
those considerations, Pakistan was prepared to go for-
ward on the basis of that resolution also. Nevertheless,
there were two matters in which the proposal did not
appear to aim at achieving progress: first, the parties
were to seek out each other and go into conference;
and secondly, the parties were to report the results to
the Council. The Council owed it to the United Nations
Representative, to the parties to the dispute and to the
people of Kashmir to ensure that the United Nations



Representative would retain the initiative in the matter,
that the conversations would take place under his
auspices and that he would report to the Security Coun-
cil.

39. In conclusion, the representative of Pakistan, not-
ing that the representative of India had indicated India’s
view that a minimum force of 28,000 was required to
carry out its responsibilities, proposed that the resolu-
tion of 13 August 1948 be implemented immediately
on the basis that India would retain that number of
forces on its side of the cease-fire line, including State
armed forces, and without armour or artillery. On the
Pakistan side, Pakistan would carry out the full obliga-
tions undertaken by it under that resolution. The Plebis-
cite Administrator would then take over and carry out
the functions entrusted to him by the resolution of 5 Jan-
uary 1949,

40. At the 610th meeting (23 December), the rep-
resentative of INDIA pointed out that the invasion of
Kashmir by the tribesmen and Pakistan nationals had
started on 22 October, while the Maharajah had execu-
ted the instrument of accession on 27 October 1947. It
was a cynical distortion of facts to describe that Paki-
stan-inspired and directed movement as a “popular
revolt” against the Maharajah’s rule. The popular move-
ment in Kashmir, which had- started twenty years
earlier, had been an entirely non-violent one.

41. The legal requisites of accession had been fully
completed by the signing and acceptance of the instru-
ment by the Maharajah and the Governor-General, The
latter had unilaterally expressed the wish, in accepting
the accession, that the ¢uestion be settled by a reference
to the people as soon as law and order had been restored
and the State had been cleared of the invader. Un-
fortunately, the invader remained, and subversive forces
and elements continued to function in the territory
they occupied. That was why reference to the people
of Kashmir was being delayed.

42. It had been argued that the invasion of the
State could not be regarded as aggression since it had
preceded accession. But Pakistan had at that time had
a stand-still agreement with Kashmir. The invasion of
a neighbouring State was an act of aggression which
was even more flagrant when that State was a small
and peaceful one. After the accession it had become
aggression against India as well. The reference to Juna-
gadh was irrelevant, for the principle of geographical
contiguity, an essential feature in the accession of all
former Indian States to one Dominion or the other, did
not apply in the case of Junagadh.

43. Dealing with the Pakistan representative’s at-
tempt to defend the second act of aggression by Paki-
stan, the representative of India recalled that her Gov-
ernment had pointed out that Article 51 of the Charter
imposed two limitations on the right of self-defence:
there must be an armed atack on the Member that exer-
cised that right and measures taken in virtue of it must
be immediately reported to the Security Council. More-
over, Pakistan contended that it had merely held a
certain line, but both the majority and minority reports
of the UNCIP had made it clear that Pakistan had
extended its military control over the northern areas
between August 1948 and January 1949. Pakistan con-
tinued to hold the territory it had been able to seize
forcibly, while India did not seek to occupy an inch
of Pakistan territory.

44. India relied on peaceful methods for settlement
of disputes and did not threaten war or have recourse

to warlike acts. The Pakistan representative had at-
tempted to dismiss the request for a joint “no-war”
declaration by asserting that it had no meaning unless
agreement was first reacked on methods and procedures
for settlement of pending issues. The representat.ve of
India asked whether the fact that such an agreement
could not immediately be reached was a reason for not
declaring that force was to stand outlawed. As the
Prime Minister of India had pointed out in his reply
to the Prime Minister of Pakistan, such a declaration
could assist in bringing about a change of atmosphere
and details of procedure would only weaken the effect.

45. The Pakistan representative’s attempt to claim
merit for acceptance of various proposals and at the
same time to discredit India for inability to concur
was misleading. Pakistan had accepted and India re-
jected the Council’s resolution (S/726) of 21 April
1948 (286th meeting). Bui that had been followed
by Pakistan’s invasion of the State, on one hand, and
by India’s co-operation and negotiation with the
UNCIP, on the other hand, despite the grave provoca-
tion offered by Pakistan’s acts. Again, Pakistan had
accepted Mr. Graham’s proposals of 16 July 1952, but
on conditions that had nullified that acceptance. In the
same way, Pakistan had nullified its acceptance of
Mr. Graham’s proposals of 4 September 1952, to which
the representative of Pakistan had not referred, while
India had considered that those proposals contained
the germ of a settlement.

46. As for the question of canal waters in the Punjab,
the representative of India continued, the interruption
that had occurred in 1948 had been due to lack of ac-
tion by Pakistan and had been terminated on the initia-
tive of the Prime Minister of India. Fears regarding
that question, particularly when unfounded, could not
justify invading the territory of a neighbour. India’s
forces had been moved back from the border in the
Punjab with the lessening of tension, the representative
of India stated. India continued to adhere to its unequiv-
ocal assurance that it wished to live in peace and
friendship with Pakistan, despite the latter’s provoca-
tion.

47. Dealing with the proposal made by the rep-
resentative of Pakistan, she noted that according to it,
apparently, the formidable 4zed Kashmir forces, which
were indistinguishable from the regular arm.: of Paki-
stan, were to be regarded as a normality, and were not
even to be subject to the restrictions in regard to ar-
mour and artillery that were to apply to the Indian and
State forces. The proposal was ingenuous enough, but
it also reversed Mr. Graham’s aproach and was basically
inconsistent with the two UNCIP resolutions. India’s
position, fully in conformity with those resolutions, was
that all proposals had to be based on a recognition of
the integrity of the entire territory of Jammu.and Kash-
mir and of the responsibility which India had for its
defence. It followed from the UNCIP resolution of
13 August 1948 that all Pakistan troops had to be
withdrawn and all armed formations, including the
Azad Kashmir forces and Gilgit scouts, which were
under Pakistan’s control, fully disarmed and dishanded.
Under the resolution of 5 January 1949, the representa-
tive of India continued, the Plebiscite Administrator
was only responsible for the disposition, that is, the
location, of the Indian forces, and could not by him-
self bring about any reduction in their number. There
could be no reduction of Indian forces below the minj-
mum necessary for the maintenance of law and order.



48. The representative of Pakistan had already
pointed out that the position of the Government of
India on the issue of accession had been that, on the
acquisition of independence, the sovereignty of the States
vested in the people, and he had stressed the fact that,
long before the alleged accession, there had been a dif-
ference between the Maharajah and his people which
had reached the point of revolt.

49. The representative of India had recalled her
Government’s undertaking to submit the question to a
plebiscite and had said that that had not taken place
because the invader was still in Kashmir. The tribes-
men had withdrawn, however, and the regular Pakistan
Army had always been ready to withdraw in accordance
with the UNCIP resolution of August 1948. It could not
be argued that the people of the State, who had taken
up arms in August 1947, were invaders who had to
withdraw. What was delaying progress in organizing
and holding the plebiscite was the refusal of the Gov-
ernment of India to withdraw its forces in accordance
with the two UNCIP resolutions that it had accepted.
Nowhere in those resolutions was the security of the
State made the sole responsibility of India. The reference
to “due regard to the security of the State and the
freedom of the plebiscite” dealt with the functions of
the United Nations Representative, succeeding the
UNCIP, and the Plebiscite Administrator, who, after
the withdrawal of the bulk of the Indian forces and
when the Representative was satisfied that peaceful
conditions had been restored, were to determine, in
consultation with the Government of India, the final
disposal—not disposition—of Indian and State armed
forces.

50. The difficulty had been to determine what was the
“bulk” of the Indian forces. Since the representative
of India had indicated that her Government needed a
force of 28,000 to carry out its responsibilities, he had
been prepared to accept that figure and not insist on
the fact that the determination was to be made by the
Commission according to the resolution of August 1948.
The question of disarming the Azad Kashmir forces
was a controversial one, and that was why that ques-
tion and the Indian figure of 21,000 had been left aside.
Though the figure of 28,000 was a high one, his Govern-
ment was prepared to accept it in order to go for-
ward. The question of the disbanding and disarming
of the Azad Kashmir forces would arise when the Plebi-
scite Administrator took over. The wording of the
UNCIP resolutions in that respect was exactly the
same as that used with regard to the Indian and State
forces: “final disposal”. It must have the same meaning
in both cases.

51. The Pakistan representative agreed that the
matter of armour and artillery was relevant. What-
ever armour and artillery was withdrawn from one
side should also be withdrawn from the other. As for
Pakistan control of the 4zad Kashmir forces, he pointed
out that upon its withdrawal the Pakistan Army would
cease to exercise any operational control over those
forces.

52. His Government agreed with the view that there
should be no departur: f-om the two UNCIP resolu-
tions. India maintained that view, yet, when called
upcn to adhere to the resolutions, it started asking for a
great deal more which was not provided for at all by the
resolutions or which was not provided for during the
stages in which India required it.
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93. Turning to other points he reiterated that the
Pakistan forces, even in the northern areas, did not
take over any area which had been occupied by or had
been under the contro! of, the Indian armed forces at
any time. As regards the question of Junagadh, the rep-
resentative of Pakistan said that it was not as irrelevant
as it had been made out to be since it was one of the
matters pending before the Security Council. The fact
that Junagadh was not contiguous to Pakistan by land
would not take it out of the category of an independent
state, the ruler of which belonged to one community
while the majority of the people belonged to another.
He bad cited the case of Junagadh merely to show
India’s inconsistency in having different criteria in dif-
ferent cases. Referring to the Canal Waters Dispute be-
tween the two countries he declared that West Punjab
as a result of the diversion of water by India had become
a deficit food area while East Punjab was beginning
to be surplus. The representative of India had stated
that officers of the International Bank were investigating
the possibility of greater utilization of available waters,
but in spite of repeated requests, and in spite of India’s
agreement that supplies would not be interfered with,
India was going on with the construction of works, by
which India could divert every drop of water from West
Punjah.

54. At the 611th meeting (23 December) the rep-
resentative of the NETHERLANDS said that the delay in
reaching a solution of the question was a matter of
great regret, the more so since the parties involved had
agreed on the fundamental point that the question of
the accession of the State of Jammu and Kashmir to
India or Pakistan would be decided through the demo-
cratic method of a free and impartial plebiscite conducted
under the auspices of the United Nations. He thought
trat it was agreed that the presence in the State of a
considerable number of forces belonging to one or both
of the parties would not create or facilitate the condi-
tions necessary for a free and impartial plebiscite. It
followed that the territory had to be demilitarized to
the greatest possible extent in order to ensure absolute
freedom of choice, and there also had to be a reasonable
proportion between the military forces on either side
of the cease-fire line.

55. Pointing out that the parties had not revoked
the agreement embodied in the UNCIP resolutions of
13 August 1948 and 5 January 1949, he observed that
any attempt to revert to the origin of the conflict would
be a step backwards. For the previous two years, the
Council had endeavoured to pave the way for the truce
agreement. The United Nations Representative had
succeeded in narrowing the problem to the number and
character of forces to remain on each side of the cease-
fire line, and it was that issue which the joint draft
resolution sought to settle. The joint proposal took into
account a difference in the basic position of the two
parties and recognized a difference in the responsibility
of the remaining forces on both sides of the cease-fire
line in that it referred to the principles and criteria
contained in the United Nations Representative’s pro-
posal of 4 September 1952.

56. The representative of the Netherlands felt that
it would be advisable to allow some flexibility in the
proposed negotiations and also that the role of the
United Nations Representative should be clarified. He
therefore submitted an amendment (5/2881) to the
joint draft resolution providing in the fourth operative
paragraph that the negotiations between the parties



would be “under the auspices of the United Nations
Representative” and deleting the provision in that para-
graph that the negotiations be held “at the Headquar-
ters of the United Nations”. The representatives of the
Unitep Kincpom and the UNITED STATES accepted the
amendment.

57. The representative of the UniTeED Kincpom did
not see any inconsistency between the joint draft reso-
lution and the two agreed UNCIP resolutions. Analys-
ing the provisions of the joint draft resolution from
that point of view, he noted that it had been accepted
by both parties that the provisions of the two UNCIP
resolutions should be combined so as to produce one
continuous demilitarization process. The only extra ele-
ment which had been introduced into Mr. Graham's
proposals of 4 September, and consequently into the
joint draft resolution, was that the number of forces
shouid be determined with due regard to the mainte-
nance of the cease-fire agreement. But that did no
more than reflect the agreement already reached in
paragraph 8 of Mr. Graham’s proposal that demilitari-
zation would be carried out in such a way as to involve
no threat to the cease-fire agreement. He submitted
that provision was made for the disposal of the Azad
Kashmir forces under paragraph 4 (b) of the UNCIP
resolution of 5 January 1949, Mr.' Graham had covered
that question by providing, in paragraph 7 of his pro-
posals of 4 September, for a large-scale disbanding
and disarming of the Ased Kashmir forces. There
would therefore be, at the end of the period of demili-
tarization, the minimum number of forces on the Azad
Kashmir side of the cease-fire line required for the
maintenance of law and order and of the cease-fire
agreement with due regard to the freedom of plebiscite.
For the Indian side, Mr. Graham’s proposal was that
there would be the minimum of forces required for the
maintenance of law and order and of the cease-fire
agreement, with due regard to the security of the
State and the freedom of the plebiscite, The condition
that demilitarization should be carried out in such a
way as to involve no threat to the cease-fire agree-
ment had been accepted by both Governments, and
Mr. Grabkam was therefore entirely logical in including,
in paragraph 7 of his proposals, maintenance of the
cease-fire agreement as one of the requirements to be
borne in mind in fixing the final number of forces
on each side of the cease-fire line. The United Kingdom
representative understood that the Pakistan Govern-
ment had agreed that the forces on the Azad Kashmir
side would have to be separated from the administra-
tive and operational control of the Pakistan Com-
mand.

58. The two alternative approaches mentioned by
Mr. Graham had been combined in the joint draft
resolution only after the most careful thought. The
United Kingdom Government thought it wise to avoid
the possibility that one of the parties might choose
to negotiate in accordance with one of the alternatives
and the other party in accordance with the other. The
sponsors of the joint draft resolution believed there
was no incompatibility between the two alternatives,
which were complementary to each other. As for the
question whether the United Nations Representative
was competent to assess the strength of military forces
to be left behind in the State at the end of the demilitari-
zation process, the resolution of 5 January 1949 made
it clear that the Representative, as the successor of
the Commission, together with the Plebiscite Adminis-

trator, would be responsible for determining the final
disposal of the armed forces, in consultation with the
Government of India, such disposal to be “with due
regard to the security of the State and the freedom
of the plebiscite”. The freedom of* the plebiscite and
the security of the State were both matters to which
considerable weight had to be attached and in regard
to which some kind of balance might have to be struck.
Clearly, the United Nations Representative and the
Plebiscite Administrator would pay the fullest attention
and attach the greatest weight to the views of the
Government of India when they consulted it on the
matter. So far as the other side of the cease-fire was
concerned, the resolution of 5 January 1949 made the
United Nations Representative and the Plebiscite Ad-
ministrator responsible for the final disposal of the
armed forces “in consultation with the local authori-
ties”.

59. The joint proposal dealt with the character of
the forces to remain by incorporating, by reference,
the provisions of paragraph 7 of Mr. Graham’s pro-
posal of 4 September 1952. The United Kingdom repre-
sentative believed that it was entirely consistent with
the two UNCIP resolutions that the forces on each
side of the cease-fire line should be, broadly speaking,
of the same kind,

60. Referring to the demilitarization proposal made
by the representative of Pakistan, the United Kingdom
representative believed it to be entirely in accordance
with the first UNCIP resolution. If it was considered
together with Pakistan’s undertaking to accept what-
ever decision the United Nations Representative and
the Plebiscite Administrator might jointly take under
the resolution of 5 January 1949, regarding the strength
of the forces, including the Azad Kashmir forces, even-
tually to be left on each side of the cease-fire line at
the time of the plebiscite, it seemed to his delegation
to be a proposal which, at any rate, deserved careful
and sympathetic study.

61. The representative of the UNifED STATES oF
AMmERIcaA said that nothing contained in the joint draft
resolution stood in the way of either one or both of
the parties coming forward with suggestions of their
own. The joint proposal rested four-square on the
agreement embodied in the two UNCIP resolutions.
In that connexion, he observed that it was unnecessary
to re-examine the basis of those resolutions. He there-
fore did not propose to discuss the charge of aggression,
The Council must not lose sight of the United Nations
Representative’s view that an early agreement on
demilitarization would have as one immediate practical
result the induction into office of the Plebiscite Admin-
istrator, who could then proceed with his necessary
study of the entire problem of a plebiscite.

62. The representative of Brazir supported the joint
draft resolution. He found it hard to believe that two
nations with so many ties and so much in common
would be unable peacefully to settle their differences.
A new effort should be made to reach agreement on
the question of demilitarization, as envisaged in the
joint proposal.

63. The representative of CHINA observed that no
member of the Council, apart from the parties involved,
had ever discussed the charges of aggression. Instead,
the Council had accepted the basic agreement of the
parties that the question of the accession of the State
should be decided by a fair and impartial plebiscite
under the auspices of the United Nations. He hoped



that the joint proposal might serve as a basis for the
renewal of successful negotiations.

64. The representative of the UNioN oF SoviEr
SocraLisT RePUBLICs said the fourth report of Mr.
Graham, like the preceding documents submitted
earlier, showed the futility of attempts to seek agree-
ment between India and Pakistan on the demilitariza-
tion of Jammu and Kashmir and on the holding of
a plebiscite under United Nations auspices. All of the
successive measures adopted at the insistence of the
United Kingdom and the United States of America
had not brought the parties any nearer to a common
ground for solution of the question.

65. The policy of the United States and the United
Kingdom regarding Jammu and Kashmir was, he said,
clearly imperialistic in character. Those countries were
unceremoniously intervening in the internal affairs of
Kashmir under cover of the United Nations, Taking
on the noble role of “peacemakers”, the United States
and the United Kingdom for five years had done all
in their power to delay a settlement of the question,
to aggravate the situation in the subcontinent and to
create such conditions as would justify the introduction
of so-called “neutral”, that is, foreign, troops into the
territory of Jammu and Kashmir in order to turn the
area into their strategic base.

66. The USSR delegation had already drawn atten-
tion to the fact that Mr. Graham, without authorization
from the Security Council, had asked the Governments
of India and Pakistan whether they were ready to agree
to the United Nations making armed forces available
despite India’s rejection of the same proposal in the
draft resolution submitted by the TInited Kingdom and
the United States of America on 21 February 1951
(5/2017). Despite repetition of India’s position, Mr.,
Graham had returned to that question in his fourth
report, where the proposal took the form of operational
and administrative control by the United Nations
through “neutral” or local officers over part of the
Azad Kashmir troops, so as to remove them from the
authority of the Pakistan High Command, The pro-
posal to send United Nations troops into Kashmir
was being used by the authors of the joint draft resolu-
tion as a weapon of intimidation designed to make
the parties accept the joint draft, which itself was
tantamount to an ultimatum requiring the parties to
agree on the number of troops set forth in it.

67. Like all earlier resolutions on the question, the
joint draft resolution, which was based on the in-
admissible principle of intervention in the internal
affairs of Kashmir, excluded any possibility of settle-
ment of the Kashmir question by the people of the
State without outside pressure or Anglo-American in-
terference, and ruled out any possibility of the Kash-
miri people using their lawful right to self-determina-
tion.

68. The only correct way for the Security Council
to solve the question would be to refrain from sanction-
ing interference in the internal affairs of Kashmir
and to enable the people of Kashmir to decide freely
their own fate in accordance with the principles of the
right of self-determination set forth in the Charter of
the United Nations. That could be done, he declared,
by having the status of Kashmir determined by a con-
stituent assembly elected by the people of Kashmir
themselves on a democratic “basis.
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69. For those reasons, the Soviet Union delegation
could not support the joint draft resolution.

70. The representative of the UNITED Kincpom
observed that if the United Kingdom and the United
States of America had been actively engaged in trying
to establish an aggressive base in Kashmir, they had
been singularly unsuccessful. It would be a reflection
on the integrity of the Governments of India and
Pakistan to suggest that they would be likely to agree
to any such proposal which, it must be obvious, would
be completely opposed to the known policies of both
parties. Should the Council ever consider recommend-
ing the establishment of a neutral force in Kashmir,
it would always be open to the USSR representative
to oppose the relevant resolution. He did not see, how-
ever, what the USSR could do should the parties ever
agree on some proposal for establishing a neutral force.

71. The representative of INDIA pointed out that his
Government had already stated that it was unable to
accept the joint draft resolution. It was not prepared
to be a party to any talks on the basis suggested in
the seventh paragraph of that proposal, With those
explicit reservations, however, the Government of In-
dia, in line with its readiness to explore all avenues
towards a peaceful settlement, would be prepared to
join and continue in any talks in connexion with the
dispute. If the Council still considered it useful or
necessary to proceed with the draft resolution, his Gov-
ernment could only profoundly regret the decision.

Decision: The joint draft resolution as amended
($/2883) was adopted at the 611th meeting, on 23 De-
cember 1952, by 9 wotes to none, with 1 abstention
(USSR). Pakistan did not participate in the voting.

C. Fifih report of the United Nations Representa-
tive for India and Pakistan

72. On 23 January 1953, the United Nations Repre-
sentative informed the Security Council (S/2910) that
the Governments of India and Pakistan had agreed
that a meeting of representatives of the two Govern-
ments at ministerial level should be held in Geneva,
under the auspices of the United Nations Representa-
tive beginning 4 February 1953, The negotiations were
to be continued on the basis of the UNCIP resolutions
of 13 August 1948 and 5 January 1949, bearing in mind
the assurances, clarifications and elucidations given to
the Governments of India and Pakistan by UNCIP.
That basis was to be without prejudice to a further
consideration, if necessary, of the twelve proposals of
the United Nations Representative.

73. By a letter dated 27 March 1953 (5/2967),
the United Nations Representative transmitted his fifth
report to the Security Council.® In the report, the Rep-
resentative set forth the views of the parties on the
implementation of part II, A (1) and (2), and B (1)
and (2) of the UNCIP resolution of 13 August 1948.
The results of the meetings and conversations on that
question, the United Nations Representative reported,
had led him to the conclusion that agreement was not
possible at that time between the two Governments
on a truce agreement based solely on part IT of the
13 August 1948 resolution, and it had appeared to him
that the same difficulties which had existed as early
as 1949 were still the main obstacles in the way of
carrying out the commitments embodied in part IT.

8 See Official Records
Special Supplement No.

gf the Security Council, Eighth Year,




He had not felt that he could continue that approach
because the figures proposed by each side were not
negotiable with the other side. In accordance with the
terms of reference agreed upon between the two Gov-
ernments for the conference, further consideration of
the Representative’s twelve proposals had ensued.

74. Having met separately with the representatives
of the two Governments, on 14 February, the United
Nations Representative had presented to them for. dis-
cussion revised proposals, the text of paragraph 7 pro-
viding, inter alie, that, at the end of the period of
demilitarization, there would remain on the Pakistan
side of the cease-fire line an armed force of 6,000 sepa-
rated from the administrative and operational command
of the Pakistan High Command and without armour
or artillery, At the end of that period an Indian armed
force of 21,000, including State armed forces, was to
remain on the Indian side of the cease-fire line, That
force was also to be without armour or artillery.

75. Among the comments of the parties on para-
graph 7 of the revised proposals were the following.
The Government of India was unable to agree to reten-
tion of any military forces in the so-called 4zad Kash-
mir territory. It held that the function of preventing
violations of the cease-fire line on the Azad Kashmir
side could be effectively performed by a civil armed
force consisting of 2,000 armed and 2,000 unarmed
men, The Government of India was willing to agree
to some increase in the numbers of that proposed civil
armed force.

76. The Government of Pakistan held that para-
graph 7 contravened the Security Council resolution
(S/2883) of 23 December 1952. The arbitrary raising
of the figure of the numbers on the Indian side to
21,000, as against 6,000 Azad Kashmir forces, would
put the security of the Azad Kashmir area in serious
jeopardy and would destroy the safeguard that the
demilitarization should he carried out in such a way
as to involve no threat to the cease-fire agreement either
during or after the period of demilitarization. The
figures proposed, the Government of Pakistan main-
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tained, amounted to a clear indication to the Govern-
ment of India that its sustained attitude of intransigence
would ultimately procure the formulation of a truce
agreement on its own terms.

77. After thorough consideration and further con-
versations with the parties, the United Nations Repre-
sentative had felt that there was no ground left at that
stage on which to continue the conference and there-
fore, in agreement with the two representatives, he had
decided to end it.

78. Dealing with the issue covered in paragraph 7
of his proposals, namely the number and character
of forces to remain on each side of the cease-fire line,
the United Nations Representative said that he held
no brief for the lower figures of 3,000 to 12,000 or
the higher figures of 6,000 to 21,000, As a mediator
whose responsibility had been to keep striving for a
settlement, he had hoped that a basis for the negotia~
tion of an agreement might be found. It appeared obvi-
ous that the Government of India, under the two
UNCIP resolutions, had some larger responsibilities
on its side of the cease-fire than had the local authori-
ties in the evacuated territory on the other side, With-
out recognition of the 4zad Kashmir Government and
without prejudice to the sovereignty of the State, it
also appeared obvious that there should be in the
evacuated territory effective local authorities and effec-
tive armed forces. In the Azed Kashmir territory
those armed forces would be organized out of the
remainder of the Azad Kashmir forces without armour
or artillery, and thereafter would he commanded by
local officers under the local authorities, under the
surveillance of the United Nations, The United Na-
tions Representative observed that the difference over
definite numbers, important as it was, was not as great
as the difference between inducting and not inducting
the Plebiscite Administrator into office, The transfor-
mation in the situation which would come from the
simple fact of induction into office of the Administra-

“tor was most important for the great objective of the

self-determination of the people of the State.



PART I

Other matters considered by the Security Ceuncil

Chapter 2
ADMISSION OF NEW MEMBERS

INTRODUCTORY NOTE: As indicated in the previous
annual report (A/2167, paras. 407 f.), the question
of admission of new Members was included in the
agenda of the Security Council at the 577th meeting
on 18 June 1952, with the following two sub-para-
graphs under that general heading:

(a) “Adoption of a recommendation to the General
Assembly concerning the simultaneous admission to
membership in the United Nations of all fourteen States
which have applied for such admission”;

(b) “Consideration of General Assembly resolution
506 (VI)”.
The Council also had befors it the following USSR
draft resolution (S/2664) :
“The Security Council

“Recommends that the General Assembly should
simultaneously admit to membership in the United
Nations the following States which have applied
therefor: Albania, Mongolian People’s Republic,
Bulgaria, Romania, Hungary, Finland, Italy, Portu-
gal, Ireland, Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan, Austria,
Ceylon, Nepal and Libya.”

At its 591st meeting (9 July 1952), the Council de-
cided to postpone consideration of the question until
2 September 1952.

A. Adoption of the agenda

79. The Council resumed discussion of the question
at its 594th meeting (2 September 1952), when the
representative of the UNITED STATES oF AMERIicA (the
President for the month of August) stated that a meet-
ing of the permanent members of the Security Council
had been held on 21 August 1952 to give the perma-
nent members an opportunity to confer on the pending
applications for membership. An effort had been made
to find a basis for agreement, but agreement had not
been possible and the permanent members had not
changed their positions.

80. Under the item “Admission of new Members”
the provisional agenda of the 594th meeting included,
in addition to the two sub-items noted above, a new
sub-item (c): “New applications for membetship (S/
2446, S/2466, S/2467, S/2672, S/2673 and S/706)”,
The PRESIDENT (the representative of Brazil) ex-
plained that he had felt it advisable to include the
sub-item so as to enable the Council to consider the
applications on which it had not yet reported to the
General Assembly and which it had not considered
on an individual basis.

81. At that stage, the Security Council had before
it the following proposals:
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(i) A draft resolution submitted by Pakistan on
17 January 1952 (S/2483) concerning the admission
of the United Kingdom of Libya:

“The Security Council,

“Having considered the application of the United
Kingdom of Libya for admission to membership in
the United Nations,

“Takes into account that on 24 December 1951,
in pursuance of General Assembly resolutions 289
(IV) of 21 November 1949 and 387 (V) of 17
November 1950. the United Kingdom of Libya has
been constituted as an independent and sovereign
State;

“Decides that in its judgment the United King-
dom of Libya satisfies the conditions for membership
in the United Nations laid down in Article 4,
paragraph 1, of the Charter; and

“Recommends to the General Assembly that it
admit the United Kingdom of Libya to membership
in the United Nations.”

(ii) A draft resolution submitted by the United
States of America on 28 August 1952 (S/2754) con-
concerning the admission of Japan:

“The Security Council,

“Having received and comsidered the application
of Japan for membership in the United Nations (5/
2673 of 23 June 1952),

“Decides that in its judgment Japan is a peace-
loving State and is able and willing to carry out
the obligations contained in the Charter; and accord-
ingly

“Recommends to the General Assembly that it
admit Japan to membership in the United Nations.”

(iii) A draft resolution submitted by France on
2 September 1952 ( S/2758) concerning the admission
of Viet-Nam:

“The Security Council,

“Having received and considered the application
of Vietnam for admission to membership in the
United Nations (documents S/2446 of 19 December
1951 and S/2756 of 29 August 1952),

“States that in its opinion Vietnam is a peace-lov-
ing State, able and willing to carry out the obliga-
tions imposed upon it by the Charter; and, therefore,

“Recommends the General Assembly to admit
Vietnam to membership in the United Nations.”

(iv) A draft resolution submitted by France on
2 September 1952 (S/2759) concerning the admission
of Laos: ,



“The Security Council,

“Having received and considered the application
of Laos for admission to membership in the United
Nations (document S/2706 of 16 July 1952),

“States that in its opinion Laos is a peace-loving
State, able and willing to carry out the obligations
imposed upon it by the Charter; and, therefore,

“Recommends the General Assembly to admit Laos
to membership in the United Nations.”

(v) A draft resolution submitted by France on
2 September 1952 (S/2760) concerning the admission
of Cambodia:

“The Security Council,

“Having received and considered the application
of Cambodia for admission to membership in the
United Nations (documents S/2672 and S/2675 of
23 June 1952),

“States that in its opinion Cambodia is a peace-
loving State, able and willing to carry out the obliga-
tions imposed upon it by the Charter; and, there-
fore,

“Recommends the General Assembly to admit
Cambodia to membership in the United Nations.”

82. The representative of the Uniox oF Sovier So-
CIALIST REPUBLICS stated that consideration of the
applications listed in the new sub-item, in particular
the applications of Japan, Laos, Cambodia and Bao
Dai’s Viet-Nam, would not be opportune. The USSR
draft resolution included all of the applications on which
a decision could be reached. He added that there was
no need to include Libya’s application under the pro-

posed sub-item since that application had already been .

considered by the Council and by the General Assem-
bly and it was, in any case, covered by the USSR
draft resolution. Moreover, Libya’s application was in-
cluded by inplication under sub-item (%), since Gen-
eral Assembly resolution 506 (VI) covered the appli-
cation of Libya.

83. After some discussion, the Security Council
decided, by 10 votes to none, with 1 abstention (USSR),
to include the new sub-item (c) in the agenda.

B. Consideration of the USSR draft resolution
(S/2664)

84. The representative of the UNioN oF Sovier
SociaList REPUBLICS, reviewing the meeting of the
permanent members, said that the United States repre-
sentative had tried as usual to throw on the USSR
" the responsibility for the deadlock on the question of
the admission of new Members, holding that it had
thwarted the will of the “majority”. The USSR repre-
sentative had therefore had to recall that the real reason
for the deadlock was not the position of the USSR,
according to which all fourteen States should be admit.
ted to membership regardless of their internal régime,
but the unwillingness of the United States to admit
to membership those States whose internal structure
was not to the liking of the ruling circles of the
United States. In that connexion, he pointed out that
in the voting on the applications of Albania, the Mongo-
lian People’s Republic, Hungary, Romania and Bul-
garia, the United States had used the veto six times.
A negative vote by a permanent member of the Seci-
rity Council constituted a veto, he declared, irrespective
of whether it was accompanied by the negative votes
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of the other members of the Security Council. In addi-
tion, the United States had resorted nine times to the
“hidden veto”, that is, by abstaining it had made it
impossible for an applicant to obtain the necessary
number of votes. The case of the abstention on the
Tunisian question by the United States and other
members of the Council had shown that such “absten-
tion” was in fact nothing but a vote “against”, since
it prevented, or interfered with, the adoption of a
decision by the Council. Once again it had been demon-
strated that the United States and its supporters, the
United Kingdom and France, had no intention of reach-
ing agreement on the admission of the fourteen States
to membership in the United Nations.

85. Dealing with the economic progress and broad
democratic development in the peoples’ democracies,
the USSR representative cited various facts and sta-
tistics which, he said, showed the pacific policies and
genuine democratic development of those countries after
the Second World War, and decisively refuted the
assertions of the United States and United Kingdom
representatives that the peoples’ democracies were not
peace-loving, that they did not meet the requirements
of Article 4 of the Charter, and consequently could
not be admitted to membership. Such assertions were
nothing but hostile slanders fabricated by the Anglo-
American imperialists in an effort to mask their own
policy of hostility and hatred towards the Hungarian,
Romanian, Bulgarian and Albanian peoples. Contrast-
ing those countries with the States regarded by the
ruling circles of the United States as “peace-loving”,
he said that the United States had revealed the real
motive involved, namely, that the ruling circles of the
United States opposed the admission of the peoples’
democracies and tried to force them to change their
internal system of government because of the hatred
of the Anglo-American monopolies for countries which
were free, independent and sovereign in the true sense
of the word, which had freed themselves forever from
the domination of foreign capital, and which had closed
their resources to predatory foreign monopolies. In that
connexion he recalled the $US100 million allocated by
the United States Government in 1951 for the purpose
of organizing sedition, sabotage and anti-popular acts
against the peoples’ democracies and the USSR.

86. The United States’ position, he said, was not
only a gross violation of the international obligations
it had assumed at Teheran and at Potsdam, and under
the peace treaties, but was also directly contrary to the
United Nations Charter. The Charter required the
development of friendly relations among nations based
on respect for the principles of equal rights and self-
determination of peoples, and it required the promotion
and encouragement of respect for human rights and
fundamental freedoms for all. The policy and internal
structure of the peoples’ democracies fully conformed
to those principles; their peoples enjoyed full demo-
cratic rights without any racial discrimination or dis-
tinction as to race, sex, language or religion, which
was more than could be said for the United States
and for the British Empire.

87. The proposals of the United States and the
United Kingdom representatives that all fourteen appli-
cations should again be considered “individually” was
rothing more than a pretext designed to conceal their
opposition to the admission of the peoples’ democracies
and to provoke a new series of so-called USSR “vetoes”

for propaganda purposes. The USSR representative



said that if, in the interest of justice and in defence
of the legal rights of the States whose admission the
United States and the United Kingdom were prevent-
ing, a USSR veto was necessary, it would be applied.
Every USSR veto was a legal and just action taken
by the USSR for the purpose, first, of defending its
own legal rights and interests in strict accordance with
the provisions of the United Nations Charter and its
main principle—unanimity of the permanent members
of the Council—and secondly, of defending the legal
rights and interests of States whose right and interests
the Anglo-American imperialists were trying to trample
underfoot.

88. The problem of the admission of new Members
had reached such dimensions that it could only be
solved in the way suggested by the USSR, namely by
admitting simultaneously the fourteen States which had
applied for membership. There was nothing in the
Charter to prevent the admission of several States
under a single resolution. Moreover, the United States
itself had created a precedent at the 54th meeting of
the Council on 28 August 1946 by proposing that the
eight States which had then applied for mermbership
should be admitted simultaneously. That proposal had
been supported hy the Secretary-General, and also by
the representatives of Brazil, China, Mexico and Egypt.
The method being advocated by the USSR was the
same as had been advocated by the United States in
1946; and it did not involve any threat to the Charter.

89. At the 595th meeting (3 September), the repre-
sentative of the NETHERLANTS said it was clear
that there was a growing tendency to make the United
Nations as nearly universal an organization as possible
—subject, of course, to the requirements of Article 4
of the Charter. At the same time, the Advisory Opinion
given by the International Court of Justice on 28 May
1948," according to which the admission of one State
could not be made conditional upon the admission of
another, could hardly be neglected. Since the General
Assembly had felt at its sixth session that the whole
problem of the admission of new Members should once
again be thoroughly examined at the seventh session
and since the gap between the opposing points of view
in the Security Council continued to exist, little prog-
ress could be expected from further discussions in the
Council at that time. His Government therefore fa-
voured postponing further consideration of the matter
until the General Assembly had had an opportunity
at its seventh session to give a clearer picture of the
views of all the members of the Organization. Should
the Council decide to pronounce itself on the varicus
proposals before it, however, his delegation would
reaffirm its previous position, which was based on
Article 4, paragraph 1, of the Charter, and the Advisory
Opinion of the International Court of Justice of 28 May
1948.

90. The representative of TURKEY pointed out that
the USSR draft resolution departed from the rule laid
down in Article 4, paragraph 1, of the Charter in that
it made the admission of countries which fully met the
qualifications required under that Article dependent
upon the admission of other countries backed by the
USSR. He recalled that, during the discussion of the
question by the Council in 1946, to which reference
had been made by the TTSSR representative, the then

7 See Advisory Opinion on Conditions of Adwmission of a State
to Membership tn the United Nations (Article 4 of the Charter)
I.CJ. Reports 1948, page 57.
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representative of the USSR, Mr. Gromyko, had held
that the Council was bound to discuss each application
separately and had said that he was unable to agree
to the proposal that the Council should adopt a resolu-
tion for the “wholesale” admission of eight countries.
The Council should act in accordance with the Charter
by considering each application separately, and by tak-
ing a decision on the merits of each case.

91. The representative of GREECE pointed out that
the United States proposal of 1946, to which the USSR
representative had referred, had called for the admis-
sion of all the then eligible and qualified applicants.
The strong stand of the USSR representative in de-
fence of Article 4 in 1946 had been taken at a time
when the applications of the eight countries in question
had been thoroughly examined by the Committee on
the Admission of New Members. The USSR proposal
was based on a false interpretation of the principle of
universality as embodied in the Charter. To set aside
the conditions of Article 4 by admitting candidates
en bloc, when some of the candidates were, to say
the least, not qualified for admission, would be a fla-
grant violation of the principles of the Charter, includ-
ing the principle of universality. He contended that the

“popular democracies” were not qualified for admission

under Article 4. The argument that the opposition to
the admission of Albania, Bulgaria, Hungary, Romania
and the Mongolian People’s Republic was due only to
the internal structure of those countries did not corre-
spond to the facts. Yugoslavia was also a communist
State, but that did not prevent his country and all
other non-communist Member nations from having
peaceful and friendly relations with it. Although his

.delegation would readily vote for the admission of

the other States listed in the USSR proposal, and
regretted their exclusion from the United Nations by
the USSR veto, he would vote against the USSR draft
resolution.

92. The representative of CHINA opposed the USSR
proposal. It did not include the Republic of Korea
whose exclusion his Government could not accept.
Moreover, the Charter required that admission to the
United Nations must be by individual State.” How
Article 4 of the Charter should be interpreted had been
authoritatively stated by the International Court of
Justice: the admission of any State could not be made
conditional upon the admission of other States. He
therefore requested that the applications of the four-
teen countries listed in the USSR proposal be put to
the vote separately. Should the USSR representative
object to such a separate vote, the USSR draft resolu-
tion would be in contradiction to the Charter and
should be ruled out of order. If the Council were forced
to vote on that draft resolution as a whole, without
a preliminary separate vote, he would vote against it,
He also pointed out that the USSR draft resolution
included certain States which his delegation regarded
as not qualified for membership. He challenged the
facts adduced by the USSR representative in support
of the applications of the so-called peoples’ democra-
cies. Citing developments and conditions in Eastern
Europe, he declared that every organization had cer-
tain unwritten laws and unwritten articles. For admis-
sion to the United Nations, States must meet certain
minimum conditions not laid down in the Charter
because the framers of the Charter had thought that
those conditions could be taken for granted. The five
States backed by the USSR did not meet those mini-



mum standards, Indeed, consideration should be given
to the question as to whether Members which did not
live up to those elementary conditions should be ex-
pelled.

93. The representative of the UNITED STATES OF
AMERICA also opposed the USSR draft resolution.
Each applicant for membership was entitled to sepa-
rate consideration and there were certain applicants
listed in the USSR proposal which his Government
did not consider qualified for membership. Moreover,
there were other applicants which were not listed in
the USSR draft, such as the Republic of Korea, which
had a particularly close connexion with the United
Nations, and whose just claim to membership would
not be forgotten by the United States. Of the countries
listed in the USSR proposal, his delegation considered
that Austria, Ceylon, Finland, Ireland, Italy, Jordan,
Libya, Nepal and Portugal, were fully qualified and
should be admitted to membership.

94. There had been no instance, the United States
representative continued, in which a draft resolution
dealing with the question of membership, or with any
other question, had failed of adoption i the Council
because of the negative vote of the United States. His
delegation had in the past voted against various applica-
tions which it felt did not meet the requirements of the
Charter, but in no instance had the United States vote
alone prevented a reccmmendation since none of those
applications had received seven affirmative votes. A
negative vote became a veto only when it thwarted
the will of the majority. That was what the negative
vote of the USSR had done repeatedly.

95. The representative of the Unitep KiNcbom
emphasized that the “obligations” supposedly under-
taken by the United States and the United Kingdom
under the Potsdam Agreement and the peace treaties—
stat